Brigham Young University Law School

BYU Law Digital Commons

Utah Supreme Court Briefs (1965 –)

1972

The State of Utah v. Ronald G. Wilcox: Appellant's Brief

STATEMENT OF KIND OF CASE

This is a criminal action charging the defendant with embezzlement of moneys of the Cardiopulmonary Care Clinic, Inc., a corporation, Defendant being President and Manager of the Corporation. Two checks were involved, one for \$2,757.72 to pay off a personal loan on his car, and one for \$52.90 to purchase a life insurance policy with Defendant's wife as beneficiary.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT
The Jury found Defendant guilty on both counts.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Defendant seeks a reversal of the jury verdict of guilty of Embezzlement on both counts as a matter of law and fact, or, that failing, remanding the case to the District Court for a new trial.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Defendant and Appellant at all times mentioned herein was married and the father of three children. While in the service of the United States Army, Defendant received training with the use of respirators and finally trained doctors and nurses in the use of same (TR 252, L 14-30; TR 253, L 1-5.)

For five years Defendant dreamed of setting up a Clinic to assist people—who needed medical help, especially as it concerned respirators and respiratory illnesses. During this early period he traveled California and many western states gathering information relative to the establishing of a medical clinic, visiting doctors, hospitals, nurses and clinics all at his own expense. (TR 253, L 9-30; TR 254, L 1-26)

Finally he actually realized his ambition and set up Cardiopulmonary Care Clinic, Inc. as an Idaho Corporation the first part of 1970. Defendant was later elected President, and Mr. Clark Fritton, Secretary-Treasurer. Both signatures were required on Company checks. (TR 255, L 6-10).

Defendant knew nothing of accounting and setting up and keeping records, nor of the niceties of corporate law. (TR 256, L 15-21) and used only a check book with stubs and ledger. (TR 260, L 1-29).

Because Defendant was doing all the work of setting up and managing the business, the Secretary-Treasurer

co-signed many checks in advance and Defendant would use them as needed. (TR 256, L 22-30) State's own witness verified Defendant's testimony. (TR 61, L 21-30; TR 62, L 1-20).

Defendant claims that he was originally authorized to draw \$200.00 per week as wages inasmuch as he was doing all of the work and this job was his sole source of income to support himself and family. Defendant also testified that the Directors agreed that he could write checks for personal needs on unpaid wages—this defendant did. (TR 255, L 1-8; TR 273, L 1-30; TR 274, L 6-27; TR 320, L 6-30; TR 321, L 1-30; TR 322, L 1-30).

The business could not support itself so Defendant loaned it money which he obtained from personal loans, some involving his wife who tried to keep the Company records; (TR 265, L 8-30; TR 266, L 1-21) Mrs. Wilcox is still paying on two of them. (TR 391, L 11-30; TR 392, L 1-23).

Defendant also permitted the Company to use his Bank Americard and Master Charge. State's complaining witness admitted that he computed or ran a tape on that use, which showed "around \$26,000.00". (TR 261, L 6-20; TR 112, L 21-31). Defendant claims the Company has not yet paid all of this back. Mr. Porter at various times admitted the Defendant claimed approximately \$3,000.00 due on credit card charges (TR 99, L 1-13; TR 102, L 17-30) and wages due of approximately \$3,000.00 (TR 116, L 1-25; TR 54, L 4-25) State's witness Lester Moody confirmed Defendant's claim for money owed him by the Company. (TR 235, L 8-30). There were no

denials by the State's witnesses that the Company still owed Defendant money for wages or credit card charges.

The two checks that form the basis for the Embezzle. ment charges were negotiated in June, 1970. was written by Defendant, admittedly, for the sum of \$2,757.72 to pay on his car. (TR 47, L 17-21; TR 277, L 24-30; TR 278, L 1-30; TR 279, L 1-30). The State's witness on direct did not acknowledge a deposit on the same day by Defendant of the sum of \$2,331.00 to the Company account, but finally did so on cross. mony, unchallenged, showed that Defendant telephoned Clark Fritton and explained the transaction and got an OK to do so. Defendant wrote the check for the purchase of his car then borrowed \$2,331.00 using the new car as collateral and deposited this sum in the Company difference of \$426.72 to be charged account. The against unpaid wages. (TR 280, L 21-29). Defendant claimed approximately \$3,000.00 wages due and unpaid at this date. The State's witness admitted that the check stub noted "loan payment"; (TR 52, L 10-22). The check was previously co-signed by Clark Fritton.

The second check was one written to Jefferson Standard Insurance Company for \$52.90 for an insurance policy premium with Defendant's wife as beneficiary. (TR 52, L 28-30; TR 53, L 1-5) Defendant did not deny. (TR 281, L 12-17; TR 282, L 1-23).

State's witness, who was Insurance Company agent, Mr. Cooper, stated that Defendant told him that he had a draw on his salary (TR 133, L 17-26; TR 134, L 10-17) at time check was written—Defendant confirmed this. (TR 282, L 27-30; TR 283, L 1-10). It is interesting to

note that no one ever questioned Defendant about these checks or objected to them prior to the issuance of Embezzlement complaints.

All of the State's evidence concerning Defendant's wages was computed by either Mr. Porter or by the C.P.A., Mr. Wiggins, and both admitted they arbitrarily made many charges without evidence to support. Both had different amounts at different stages of the testimony. \$3,350.00 (TR 83, L 4-15) \$6,788.89 (TR 85, L 1-7) \$5,502.50 (TR 154, L 2-30; TR 155, L 1-30). No matter how Defendant could possibly be limited, there were still unpaid wages due Mr. Wilcox.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE EVIDENCE DOES NOT SUPPORT THE VERDICT OF GUILTY RENDERED BY THE JURY AGAINST DEFENDANT ON EITHER COUNT.

The State's case consisted of evidence that showed the Defendant to have been the President and sole Manager of Cardiopulmonary Care Clinic, Inc., a corporation set up primarily by Defendant in the State of Idaho in the first part of 1970.

Defendant, admittedly, had the sole responsibility of setting up the business, hiring employees, driving vehicles, purchasing equipment and so forth, and admittedly spent a great number of hours each day in doing so.

The books and records were extremely sparce; Defendant did not have the time or the knowledge to establish and maintain same.

In middle of 1970 the complaining witness was asked by Defendant to become a member and director of the Corporation to set up a complete set of books and records. Mr. Porter had some experience in accounting, and, after going over the records, suggested to Defendant that a C.P.A. be employed to set them up. Defendant readily agreed and Keith Wiggins, C.P.A., was employed.

Mr. Wiggins stated the records were virtually impossible to understand, but with many consultations with Defendant and Mr. Porter, did come up with a set of ledgers and balance sheets. He had only checks, stubs and ledger to work with and it was determined that if no explanation of checks were noted on stubs he would ask what they were for and usually charged them against draws for wages by Defendant, oftentimes arbitrarily and over Defendant's objection. The State's witnesses computed Defendant had drawn wages to be in varying amounts—\$3,350.00, \$6,788.89, and \$5,502.50.

Mr. Porter admitted that Defendant claimed he was authorized to draw \$200.00 per week as wages, and did in fact have wages due at the time the two checks were written. He admitted further that Defendant permitted the Corporation to use his personal credit cards and approximately \$26,000.00 worth of charges were made for corporate use to try to keep it going. He also admitted that probably not all had been repaid.

Finally in June, 1970 Defendant wrote one of the checks in question in the sum of \$2,757.72 with stub notation of a "loan payment" and when Defendant was asked about it, he stated that it was a loan to him and had been repaid. Defendant admitted writing the check to pay on a personal obligation but stated that before doing so had contacted Clark Fritton who was co-signer of check, and explained that he wanted to write the check to pay off his car, but was going to buy a truck and camper and would use the same as collateral and pay money back the next day, and Fritton agreed that this could be done. Actually, the same day the check was written Defendant deposited back the sum of \$2,331.00 which he obtained from a loan on the truck and camper. The difference he charged off against unpaid wages which at this time he claimed to be approximately \$3,000.00.

At this time, it was clear that Defendant had money coming, over the \$426.72 difference, in wages, and he also claimed money coming from unrepaid credit card charges owed by the Corporation.

With regard to the \$52.90 check to the Jefferson Standard Insurance Company there could be no question but that, at the time he wrote the checks, he told the Insurance Company agent he did not have his personal checkbook, but had draws coming for unpaid wages against the Corporation and would credit this on the books as such.

It would seem that there is absolutely no evidence of an intention to defraud the Corporation at any stage.

Mr. Wilcox claimed that the Company owed him money from wages and credit card charges, and used these checks as draws. He had done so in the past and had money coming at the end of the year. He and his wife were paying on two personal loans for money advanced to the Corporation and were at this time paying on credit card charges for the Corporation. He claims the Company owed him over \$3,000.00.

He was unfamiliar with bookkeeping procedures and did not know that it might be improper to make draws on wages and moneys owed in this way. He stated that Mr. Fritton lived in another city and it would have been practically impossible to consult with him on each check, so there was an understanding that Fritton would sign many blank checks and Defendant could use them as needed. Defendant did, however, get Fritton's okay to write the \$2,757.72 check and Defendant did in fact put back in the Company account \$2,331.00 the same day.

There could be no finding of a fraudulent intent at any time, but merely poor judgment in handling the transactions as Defendant did.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO GRANT DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO DISMISS AT THE CONCLUSION OF STATE'S CASE.

At the conclusion of the State's case, Defendant made the Motion to dismiss both charges against Defendant, which the Court declined to grant, although from the ruling it appeared the Court found at least some merit in the Motion.

The argument advanced in Point I would apply to this point so Defendant will not be repetitious by repeating same.

Embezzlement under which Defendant was charged is defined by Title 76-17-2, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as follows:

76-17-2 by the officer or agent of corporation.—
"Every officer, director, trustee, clerk, servant or agent of any association, society or corporation, public or private, who fraudulently appropriates to any use or purpose not in the due and lawful execution of his trust any property which he has in his possession or under his control by virtue of his trust, or secrets the same with a fraudulent intent to appropriate it to use or purpose is guilty of Embezzlement."

In view of the Statute and holding of this Court, no fraudulent intent has been shown by any stretch of the evidence. Full disclosure was made before both checks were written, notation was made on stubs, and Defendant made all records available at all times. There was no showing of secrecy, trickery, or intentional fraud.

Defendant personally requested a thorough accounting and further, asked that a complete set of books be established. He never denied writing checks for personal use and claimed the amounts as unpaid wages, which was true. The Company then and now owes Defendant money for wages and unreimbursed credit card charges.

In one of the leading cases in this State, cited as STATE vs HORNE, 62 Utah 376, 220 P 378, in discus-

sing the intent necessary in the crime of Embezzlement, the Court said as follows:

"In order to convict one of the crime of Embezzle." ment the proof must go beyond the mere fact of showing that the accused obtained the property of another in some fiduciary capacity and that he failed to account for it on demand. While there may be cases where the felonious intent may be inferred from the circumstances surrounding the receipt and withholding of the property, nevertheless, that cannot be so where, as in this case, the accused claims withholding of the property to have been in good faith and without felonious intent. True, it is that the reasons the accused may assign for having withheld the property may not be believed, but if he claims as a defense that he withheld the property in good faith and upon some reasonable ground, then the necessary felonious intent cannot be inferred from the mere fact that he failed to account"

The Court also cited MACKLEROY vs PEOPLE, 202 ILL. 473, 66 N.E. 1058. Quoting on the Mackleroy case, the Court held as follows:

"To the same effect is the case of Mackleroy vs People, Supra. In the latter case it is said 'We are also of the opinion that the evidence failed to prove with that degree of certainty required by the Rules of Evidence in criminal cases that the defendant fraudulently converted to her own use or took and secreted with the intent so to do

without the consent of her employer, the money in question. The only evidence of a criminal intent is the inference to be drawn from the act itself. She at no time denied or attempted to conceal the indebtedness. So it must be said here that defendant at no time concealed or attempted to conceal the withholding of the check, and he as we read the record at all times claimed that he withheld it for the reason stated."

In SINGLETON vs SINGLETON, 157 P2d 896 (Cal.) the Court stated:

"When a person takes goods which he honestly believes are his own under a claim of title, he is not guilty of larceny, nor is such person guilty of embezzlement of property if it is openly and avowedly taken under a claim of title preferred in good faith."

So it is in this case. The accused openly noted the check in the company check register which was available to the officers and agents of the corporation. The same day he also made a deposit in a lesser sum with the allegation that the difference was charged aganist his earned income not paid to him at that time. There is no evidence to conceal any of the transactions at any time. It has been shown to be merely a continuation of practice from the inception of the Corporation and not objected to at any time until the filing of this complaint.

In STATE vs. McCORMICK, 442 P. 2d 134, an Arizona Case the Court impliedly negated the criminal intent aspect where it is shown that the transaction was one that had been established as customary practice, stating that the requisite intent in an Embezzlement prosecution may be inferred from the circumstance of the defendant's acts, such as voluntary acts in depriving the entrustor of his property, or taking large sums of money without approval and contrary to established practice.

In this case I believe it has been clearly shown that it was an established practice accepted by the officers and directors of the Corporation and reported to the bookkeeper that payment of wages to the accused was made by the accused paying personal indebtedness and personal accounts with corporate funds, with disclosures being made periodically. All of these checks made payable to the accused on the Company accounts were openly made on Company checks with the notations made on the stubs with a few exceptions when the stubs were not available and at no time is there a claim that these checks and ledgers were not made available and in fact it is clearly shown that they were made available all during the course of time involved up through 1970.

American Jurisprudence defines intent as follows:

26 Am Jur 2d EMBEZZLEMENT (Section) 21 p572, "The retention of property in good faith, without secrecy or concealment under a bonafide claim of right based upon reasonable grounds, generally is inconsistent with a fraudulent intent to embezzle. This is so, even though the accused is

mistaken in his claim of right the retention of money or property belonging to an employer may not constitute embezzlement if the accused retaines it in the belief that he had a right to keep it for his compensation."

Defendant feels that as a matter of law, the Court should have granted Defendant's Motion to Dismiss and erred in denying such Motion.

POINT III

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO GIVE DEFENDANT'S INSTRUCTION NUMBER FOUR TO THE JURY, DEFINING THE MEANING OF THE WORD "FRAUDULENTLY" AS IT APPLIES TO EMBEZZLEMENT STATUTE.

At the time the case was submitted to the Jury, the Defendant requested the Court to give to the Jury the following instruction:

"As used in Embezzlement statute providing for punishment of a fiduciary of money who fraudulently converts it to his own use, quoted word "fraudulently" has some other than its usual meaning. It implies deceit, deception, artifice and trickery and means conversions made with intent to deprive beneficiary of the money permanently. It is not sufficient to show that the accused may have used poor judgment in his method of accounting."

The Court erred in refusing to give this instruction. Under the Statute, Title 76-17-2, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, reciting that fraudulent intent was a necessary element of the charge of Embezzlement, and under the rulings of this Supreme Court, the Jury is entitled to an explanation as to what constitutes fraudulent intent and this was the import of the requested instruction.

The evidence set forth in the State's case certainly justified this requested instruction, and in all probability the Jury rendered its verdict because Defendant in fact wrote the checks. They did not properly determine question of intent at the time.

We feel that all the State showed was poor judgment on Defendant's part.

There was a great deal of evidence admitted into the record, which probably confused the Jury on just what elements they were to consider and what elements they were to find. The evidence and arguments concerning the proper way to keep the records and impropriety of an officer dealing with the Corporation in the manner Defendant did, apparently swayed the Jury.

They undoubtedly would have been properly advised as to the meaning of fraud as it applies to Embezzlement if this instruction had been given and we contend that the Court erred in its refusal to give this instruction.

CONCLUSION

It is our conclusion that we have the classic case of a person, skilled in the field of a branch of medicine, but totally unskilled in the fields of business, trying to run the Corporation. He acted logically but not in accordance with the rules of Corporate dealings.

Defendant had sole responsibility of establishing the Corporation, setting up and managing the business of the Corporation and did so in the way it seemed logical to him. If the Corporation needed money, Defendant would obtain a personal loan and put it in the Corporation account. If he had wages coming, he would draw some checks on wages specifically and on some occasions pay a personal bill on Company check and charge against wages, or money loaned. He permitted Company charges to be placed upon his credit cards when necessary.

When the two checks, subject of the charge of Embezzlement, were written, he had money coming from the Corporation. When he wrote the large check after obtaining permission to do so from the Corporation cosigner, he entered notation "loan payment" and the same day deposited an amount approximatety \$400.00 less back in the Company account, which he obtained from a personal loan, and debited the difference against wages.

On the smaller check he told the payee that he had a draw on the Company account, and this amount was charged to Defendant as wages.

The State did not show any evidence of a fraudulent intent. Actually good faith on the part of Defendant was clearly shown.

It is submitted that the Court erred in refusing to dismiss the charges against—the Defendant at the conclusion of the State's case. It is further submitted that the Jury erred in its verdict on both counts in that no fraudulent intent was shown.

The trial court erred in refusing to give Defendant's Instruction Number four defining the meaning of the fraudulent intent necessary for a conviction.