## **Brigham Young University Law School**

# **BYU Law Digital Commons**

Utah Supreme Court Briefs (1965 –)

1972

The State of Utah v. Ronald G. Wilcox: Respondent's Brief

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

#### ARGUMENT

#### POINT I.

THE JURY VERDICT OF GUILTY ON BOTH COUNTS OF EMBEZZLEMENT IS SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE PRESENTED.

Defendant admits that he converted corporate funds to personal use on two occasions as charged. The jury was instructed that if they found Defendant acted in good faith under a claim of right he should be acquitted. The jury found that Defendant acted with a fraudulent intent to deprive the Cardio-Pulmonary Care Clinic, Inc. of its money. There is substantial evidence in the record to support this verdict.

Defendant failed to properly account for the money he took from the Cardio-Pulmonary Care Clinic, Inc. There is evidence to support the jury in a finding that this failure to account was an attempt by Defendant to conceal the fact that he had taken the money from the Corporation. Defendant kept no record of his transactions for the Corporation except a check stub and check register. After writing the check for \$2,757.72 to pay off the loan on his personal car, Defendant wrote on the check register that the check was a loan payment with no reference to it being a personal loan (T. 52, L. 18-22, T. 16, L. 12-16). When other officers of the Corporation became concerned about this and other checks, Defendant was asked to explain (T. 46, L. 2-10). Defendant explained

that the check for \$2,757.72 was a personal check and had been paid back (T. 47, L. 17-20). Mr. Porter, a director of the Corporation, testified that his investigation yielded no record that the money had ever been paid back (T. 51, L. 18-20). Defendant made a deposit of \$2,331.00 to the Corporation account on June 1st but there was no indication on the deposit slip as to what the deposit was for (T. 51, L. 25-30, T. 52, L. 1-6). A Certified Public Accountant called in to set up books for the Corporation testified that Defendant had informed him the \$2,331.00 was a loan from Medical Leasing and Distributing Co. to the Cardio-Pulmonary Care Clinic, Inc. (T. 161, L. 24-27). Medical Leasing and Distributing Co. was a sole proprietorship of the Defendant. Defendant himself testified at one point in the trial that the \$2,331.00 was a loan to Cardio-Pulmonary Care Clinic, Inc. from Medical Leasing (T. 330, L. 24-30; T. 331, L. 1-7) though he later denied that he had said that (T. 335, L. 22-30; T. 336, L. 1-10) and claimed that the money was the repayment of the \$2,-757.72 check.

Defendant wrote a check for \$52.90 to purchase life insurance with his wife as beneficiary. The check stub carried no indication that this was not a corporate expense and the C. P. A. who set up the corporate books testified that he received no indication from Defendant that it was not a corporate expense (T. 171, L. 9-23). Mr. Porter also testified that there was no indication the \$52.90 had been used for corporate business or paid back (T. 53, L. 1-15). Defendant told the insurance salesman that he was

using a Corporation check to pay for the insurance because he did not have his check book with him and was due some money from the company (T. 133, L. 17-25). Later, Defendant asked the insurance agent to write a letter stating that the original policy had been made out for the benefit of the company (T. 130, L. 20-25). The jury would certainly be justified in deducing an intent to defraud from such conflicting explanations of the purpose of the check.

There is evidence that Defendant knew of his duty to keep accurate records. Defendant had been president and a director of a previous corporation (T. 313, L. 8-30). Defendant's wife set up the bookkeeping for that corporation and Defendant hired a public accountant to take over the books (T. 397, L. 20-25). Defendant made out a financial statement in the presence of others and even underlined the total twice (T. 367, L. 22-30; T. 368, L. 1-11). Mr. Wiggins testified that he instructed Defendant on how to set up proper financial records for the Cardio-Pulmonary Care Clinic, Inc. and that Defendant disregarded his advice (T. 198, L. 12-30; T. 199, L. 1-30; T. 200, L. 17). This supports the jury's finding that Defendant's poor record keeping was motivated by a fraudulent intent to deprive the Corporacion of its money rather than by ignorance.

There is also evidence to support a jury finding that Defendant held no good faith claim of right to the money taken. There was no authorization in the articles of incorporation, the by-laws or in the minutes of any meet-

ing for Defendant to use corporate funds for personal use (T. 53, L. 16-29). From March 23, 1970 until June 1, 1970 Defendant withdrew a regular weekly paycheck of \$125 (T. 155, L. 28-30; T. 156, L. 1-4; T. 323, L. 23-30). There is no evidence as to what Defendant's salary should have been during this period except Defendant's testimony that it should have been \$200 a week. In a board meeting in August, 1970, Defendant was authorized a salary of \$200 a week which he drew regularly after that date (T. 117, L. 15-30; T. 157, L. 24-27). In Defendant's representation to the board that he was short on the salary due him no mention was made of personal expenses paid off with corporate funds as representing salary (T. 115, L. 26-30; T. 116, L. 1-23). Defendant testified that he had made personal loans to the Cardio-Pulmonary Care Clinic, Inc. before June 1, 1970 and that these represented some of the money due him when he wrote the checks listed in the charge (T. 324, L. 19-23; T. 326, L. 23-30; T. 327, L. 1-25). There was no record of such loans being deposited to the Corporation and Defendant admitted that he may have "misrepresented" what he said in testifying that he had deposited the loans to the company (T. 330, L. 24-30; T. 331, L. 1-28). The Cardio-Pulmonary Care Clinic, Inc. paid for all the Master-Charge and BankAmericard charges presented to it by Defendant except one for \$200 which it refused to pay (T. 103, L. 5-11). From this evidence the jury could conclude that defendant drew the salary he was authorized, and that his other claims against the Corporation were neither hon-

estly computed nor held in good faith.

The intent of the Defendant may be inferred from other evidence concerning the general nature of Defendant's conduct toward the Corporation. Mr. Wiggins testified of his concern as a C. P. A. that the transactions between Defendant's sole proprietorship and Cardio-Pulmonary Care Clinic, Inc. were not arm's length transactions (T. 143, L. 14-28). Defendant admitted making a \$250 profit from the sale of a \$600 radio to Cardio-Pulmonary, from Medical Leasing (T. 338, L. 22-30; T. 339, L. 1-30; T. 340, L. 1). Defendant was inconsistent in explaining the checks he wrote (T. 118, L. 1-7). Defendant delayed the transmission of the Corporation records to the C. P. A. (T. 139, L. 23-28). Defendant's explanation of the records to the C. P. A. were contradictory and inaccurate (T. 48, L. 20-24). Defendant handled the Corporation as if he did not have to answer to anyone (T. 165, L. 17-20). The C. P. A. had prepared a tax return for the Corporation which was not mailed (T. 181, L. 24-26). A check was given to the accountant as an equipment purchase. When the accountant pressured the Defendant on what type of equipment, the Defendant admitted it was personal and should be charged against him as wages (T. 196, L. 8-24). Defendant inflated value of corporate assets by 70% to get investors to back the Corporation (T. 227, L. 9-12). Defendant told prospective investors that he had invested \$10,000 in the Corporation which later proved untrue (T. 225, L. 6-25). Defendant listed leased equipment as corporation capital to secure a loan, without indicating that it was leased (T. 216, L. 24-30; T. 217, L. 8-19). This evidence would support a jury finding that the Defendant had a fraudulent intent, and could be used by the jury as outlined in instruction No. 7 to support a finding that the Defendant had the requisite knowledge and scheme to commit the crime.

In an appeal from a conviction for embezzlement the evidence is sufficient to support the verdict if there is any substantial evidence upon which a jury could reasonably base a guilty verdict. In *State* v. *Aures*, 102 Utah 113, 118, 127 P. 2d 872 (1942), the Utah Supreme Court said: "It is not the province of this court to judge the sufficiency of the evidence. If there was substantial evidence from which the jury could reasonably conclude that Defendant embezzled money of Mrs. Armstrong, we should not disturb the verdict."

In State v. Berchtold, 11 Utah 2d 208, 214, 357 P. 2d 183 (1960), this Supreme Court refused to overturn a homicide conviction for lack of sufficient evidence to sustain the verdict. The Court said, "We reverse a jury verdict only where we conclude from a consideration of all the evidence and the inferences therefrom viewed in the light most favorable to such verdict that the findings are unreasonable." See State v. Erwin, 101 Utah 365, 120 P. 2d 285 (1942), for a similar holding. There is substantial evidence in the record to sustain the jury in its finding that Defendant acted with a fraudulent intent to deprive the Cardio-Pulmonary Care Clinic, Inc. of its money.

## POINT II.

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN RE-FUSING TO GRANT DEFENDANT'S MO-TION TO DISMISS.

At the conclusion of the State's case Defendant moves to dismiss. The State had presented evidence on each element of embezzlement. The trial judge properly ruled that the case should go to the jury.

The standard to be applied to the evidence by the trial court in ruling on a motion to dismiss has been stated by this Supreme Court in *State* v. *Thatcher*, 71 Utah 63, 68, 157 P. 2d 258 (1945). The Court said, "where different reasonable inferences can be drawn from the evidence, the question is one exclusively within the province of the jury." Again in *State* v. *Pendervill*, 2 Utah 2d 281, 286, 272 P. 2d 195 (1954), the Court stated:

"It has been repeatedly held by this court that upon a motion to dismiss or to direct a verdict of not guilty for lack of evidence that a trial court does not consider the weight of the evidence or credibility of the witnesses, but determines the naked legal proposition of law, whether there is any substantial evidence of guilt of the accused, and all reasonable inferences are to be taken in favor of the state."

This holding has been followed by this Court in *State* v. *Rivenburgh*, 11 Utah 2d 95, 355 P. 2d 183 (1960), and in *State* v. *Woodall*, 6 Utah 2d 8, 305 P. 2d 473 (1956).

The basis for Defendant's motion is summarized in Utah Code Ann. § 76-17-10 (1953), which says:

"Upon indictment for embezzlement it is sufficient defense that property was appropriated openly and avowedly and under a claim of title made in good faith, even though such claim is untenable."

It would not have been proper for the judge to rule as a matter of law that Defendant's appropriation was open and avowed. There is substantial evidence in the record to support a jury determination that Defendant attempted to conceal his appropriation of Corporation money. As outlined under Point I the Defendant made no record of either check to indicate the money had been taken for personal use under a claim of title. When pressed about the \$2,757.72 check. Defendant claimed he had paid it back. Defendant also tried to get a letter showing that the \$52.90 had been meant for Corporation purposes. The credibility of Defendant's claim that he had no knowledge of accounting and of the inference that he was ignorant of a duty to keep a record of the Corporation's finances was a question for the jury. A determination that Defendant's failure to account was prompted by a fraudulent intent to deprive the Corporation of its money would have been justified evidence presented in the record.

Defendant's claim that he had money coming from the Corporation at the time he wrote the checks is supported only by Defendant's own testimony and statements to other persons. Defendant's credibility is a proper issue for jury determination. Evidence that Defendant drew a regular salary from March to June, 1970 and that he drew a full \$200 salary when it was authorized by the board of directors, along with evidence that Defendant had deposited no loans to the Corporation account before June 1st and had no unpaid credit card charges, support a jury finding that Defendant had no good faith claim to the money he appropriated. It would have been improper for the judge to rule as a matter of law that Defendant's taking was open and avowed under a claim of title.

In State v. Horne, 62 Utah 376, 382, 220 P. 378 (1923), the Supreme Court held that mere failure to account was not sufficient evidence of the necessary felonious intent where the defendant has a good faith claim to the property. In that case the court said the issue was for the jury under proper instruction. The court said, "... the jury must be instructed that the necessary felonious intent must be deduced from all the facts and circumstances when considered in connection with the claims of the accused respecting the failure to account for the property." Applying the holding in State v. Horne to this case, the judge could not rule as a matter of law that Defendant had a good faith claim of title, and the jury was not instructed that it could find the Defendant's intent merely from the fact that he converted the money. The jury was instructed under instructions 6a and 6b (Record 18-20) that if they found Defendant was acting in good faith and intended to charge the money to wages it should find him not guilty.

In People v. Proctor, 169 C. A. 2d 269, 337 P. 2d 93, (1959), the California Court applied a California statute similar to Utah Code Ann. § 76-17-10 (1953), (Deering California Penal Code § 511), as follows:

"Whether Appellant took the check openly, in good faith and under a claim of title, is a question of fact for determination by the duly constituted arbiter of the facts, and such a claim does not depend solely upon whether the claimant believes he was acting lawfully, but the surrounding circumstances must reasonably indicate good faith."

The trial court did not err in allowing the jury to decide whether Defendant was acting in good faith or with intent to deprive the Cardio-Pulmonary Care Clinic, Inc. of its money.

## POINT III.

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN RE-FUSING TO GIVE DEFENDANT'S IN-STRUCTION TO THE JURY DEFINING THE MEANING OF THE WORD "FRAUDU-LENTLY" AS IT APPLIED TO EMBEZZLE-MENT STATUTE.

Defendant requested the following instruction be submitted to the jury:

"As used in embezzlement statute providing for punishment of a fiduciary of money who fraudulently converts it to his own use, quoted word "fraudulently" has some other than its usual meaning. It implies deceit, deception, artifice and trickery and means conversions made with intent to deprive beneficiary of the money permanently. It is not sufficient to show that the accused may have used poor judgment in his method of accounting."

The trial court did not err in refusing to give this instruction since the essential part of the instruction is already stated in instruction 6a and 6b, and the part of this instruction which differs from instruction 6a and 6b is a misstatement of the law. In State v. Berchtold, supra, the Supreme Court held that the trial court need not give an instruction that is not substantially different from an instruction given. The section of the requested instruction that indicates Defendant may not be convicted for the use of poor judgment in his accounting methods is already covered in instruction 6a and 6b. Besides the instruction in both 6a and 6b that if the jury believes Defendant acted in good faith he should be acquitted, instruction 6a states. "You are instructed that the statute here involved is intended to punish those who fraudulently misuse corporation funds to their own advantage and is not intended to punish those who are mistaken regardless of the reasonableness of their mistake" (Record 18-19). The section of Defendant's requested instruction which defines the word "fraudulently" is a misstatement of the law. In State v. Erwin, supra, this Supreme Court has ruled that instructions which are a misstatement of the law are properly refused. The word "fraudulently" as used in the embezzlement statute denotes the element of criminal intent necessary to constitute embezzlement and is not meant to imply that embezzlement requires an added element of trickery or deception. In Mansur v. Lentz, 201 Mo. App. 256, 211 S. W. 97, 99 (Kan. Cty. Ct. of Appeals 1919), a Missouri Appeals court held, "the words 'feloniously' and 'fraudulently' used in connection with an unlawful and forbidden act only mean that the act was done knowingly and purposely . . . " The Iowa Supreme Court said in State v. Jamison, 74 Iowa 602, 38 N. W. 508, 509 (188), that "fraudulently" as used in an indictment charging that the defendant did fraudulently embezzle and convert to his own use a certain sum of money, qualifies the words "embezzled" and "converted" and is descriptive of the motive with which the act is done. Other cases with similar holdings are State v. McCormick, 7 Ariz. App. 576, 442 P. 2d 134 (1968), and State v. Yell, 104 N. H. 87, 178 A. 2d 289 (1962).

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